## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## NO. 2008-CA-01857

**LORA LOPEZ** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

ROBERT D. MCCLELLAN

**APPELLEE** 

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT CAUSE NO. A2402-2005-31

# **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

Russell S. Gill, MSB 1
Shannon Ladner, MSB No.
RUSSELL S. GILL, P.L.L.C.
638 Howard Avenue
Biloxi, Mississippi 39530
Telephone: (228) 432-0007
Facsimile: (228) 432-0025

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

## NO. 2008-CA-01857

LORA LOPEZ

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

ROBERT D. MCCLELLAN

APPELLEE

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

Appellant Lora Lopez presents the following issues for the Honorable Court's consideration:

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in granting a *sua sponte* Motion for Summary Judgment, thereby dismissing that action with prejudice.
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in excluding expert medical testimony of Dr. Charles Winters as to any causal relationship of Lora Lopez's injuries to the impact with Robert D. McClellan's vehicle.
- 3. Whether the trial court erred in finding that no genuine issue of material fact existed on the issue of causation of Lora Lopez's injuries.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

## I. Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings Below

This appeal to the Supreme Court of Mississippi stems from an order and judgment entered by the Honorable Jerry O. Terry, Circuit Court Judge for the Second Circuit Court District, on October 16, 2008, whereby summary judgment was granted to the Defendant. Robert D. McClellan ("McClellan"), and final judgment entered in favor of McClellan pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56. (R. at 77-79, 81-82)1; (R.E. at 76-78, 80-81)2. This matter was set for a jury trial on September 16, 2008, whereupon counsel appeared before the Judge Terry and argued outstanding pre-trial motions in anticipation of trial. (Tr. at 1-34)3; (R.E. at 98-133). The Court heard arguments of counsel regarding McClellan's Motion to Strike No. 1 - Opinions of Dr. Charles Winters, which is relevant to the instant appeal. (Tr. at 2-16; R. at 31-76); (R.E. at 101-115, 30-75). After taking the motion and arguments of counsel under advisement, Judge Terry stated his decision on September 17, 2008, and ruled sua sponte in favor of McClellan for what the Court deemed "summary judgment." (Tr. at 19-31); (R.E. at 118-130). Subsequent to the Court's entry of its final judgment, Appellant Lora Lopez ("Lopez") timely filed her Notice of Appeal on November 10, 2008. (R. at 84-86); (R.E. at 83-85).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "R." is the abbreviation used by Appellant Lora Lopez to cite to the page number of the Record prepared by the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> "R.E." is the abbreviation used by Appellant Lora Lopez to cite to Appellant's Record Excerpts, which are submitted herewith pursuant to M.R.A.P. 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Tr." is the abbreviation used by Appellant Lora Lopez to cite to the page number of the Transcript Excerpts of proceedings on September 16, 2008, and September 17, 2008.

## II. Statement of the Facts

On Friday, February 13, 2004, Appellant Lora Lopez ("Lopez") was a front seat passenger in a 2000 GMC Sonoma automobile traveling westbound on Highway 67, Biloxi, Mississippi. (R. at 17); (R.E. at 16). The driver of the vehicle was Lopez's friend, Jaclyn S. Hughes ("Hughes"). (Id.). Meanwhile, Linda G. Nesline ("Nesline") was traveling eastbound on Highway 67 in a 1996 Grand Cherokee, whereupon she crossed over into the oncoming westbound lane of traffic in which Lopez and Hughes were traveling. (Id.). At that time, the front of Nesline's vehicle collided with the front of the vehicle in which Lopez was riding, which resulted in a head-on collision. (Id.). Appellee Robert McClellan ("McClellan") was traveling westbound on Highway 67 in a 1993 Nissan, and was following immediately behind the vehicle in which Lopez was a passenger. (Id.). Upon the impact between Nesline and the vehicle driven by Hughes, the front of McClellan's vehicle collided with the rear of Hughes and Lopez. (Id.).

As a result of the aforesaid collision with Nesline and McClellan, Lopez sustained severe injuries and was immediately taken by ambulance to Biloxi Regional Medical Center. (P-3, Ambu-003)<sup>4</sup>; (R.E. at 134). Due to the nature of her injuries as a result of the collision with Nesline and McClellan, Lopez received medical treatment from numerous physicians, including Dr. Charles Winters, who performed back surgery on Lopez on December 14, 2004. (P-3, OSH-063); (R.E. at 135).

Lopez filed a lawsuit in the Circuit Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District, Cause No. A2402-2005-31, on February 23, 2005, and named Nesline and

<sup>4 &</sup>quot;P-" is the abbreviation used by Appellant Lora Lopez to cite to the Plaintiff's trial exhibits (P-1 through P-14), which were marked and received into evidence by the trial court. (Tr. at 33); (R.E. at 132).

McClellan as defendants therein. <sup>5</sup> (R. at 16-21); (R.E. at 15-20). Count II of her Complaint alleged negligence on the part of McClellan for breaching his duty to operate his vehicle with due and reasonable care, so as to allow it to collide with the rear of the vehicle in which Lopez was a passenger. (R. at 4); (R.E. at 3). Pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, Lopez timely filed her Designation of Experts on July 16, 2008, and named as one of her experts Dr. Charles Winters. (R. at 7, 43); (R.E. at 6, 42). Lopez also named Dr. Winters as a potential expert on May 26, 2005, in her answers to interrogatories propounded by McClellan, and anticipated that Dr. Winters would testify as to Lopez's "orthopedic injuries, diagnoses, and treatment, as well as causation and prognosis." (R. at 70-71); (R.E. at 69-70). Dr. Winters prepared a letter dated May 12, 2006, wherein he states his medical opinion as to Lopez's injuries, assigns her 9% impairment to the whole body and apportions 50% of Lopez's injuries to each impact between the automobile in which she was riding and the automobiles driven by Nesline and McClellan. (R. at 75); (R.E. at 74).

Additionally, the deposition of Dr. Winters was held on July 15, 2008, whereupon he testified regarding his treatment of Lopez and the causal connection between Lopez's need for surgery and the two impacts between the vehicle in which she was riding and that of Nesline and McClellan. (P-6, 1-46); (R.E. at 136-181). As indicated in his letter of May 12, 2006, Dr. Winters testified in his deposition that the rear collision with McClellan contributed to 50% of Lopez's need for surgery. (P-6, 19); R.E. at 154). Dr. Winters testified to a reasonable medical probability regarding his apportionment of damages, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Defendant Linda Nesline was dismissed from this cause on April 27, 2006, pursuant to an agreed settlement of claims between Nesline and Lopez. (R. at 10); (R.E. at 9). Thereafter, on June 19, 2006, Judge Terry entered an Agreed Order consolidating Jaclyn Hughes' lawsuit, which originated in the County Court of Harrison County, Mississippi, Second Judicial District, D2402-05-619, with the instant matter. (R. at 29-30); (R.E. at 28-29).

further agreed that this opinion is based on training and experience in the field of orthopedic surgery since 1988.

McClellan thereafter filed Motion to Strike No. 1 – Opinions of Dr. Charles Winters on August 22, 2008, which moves to strike Dr. Winters as an expert based on his opinions regarding apportioned causation. (R. at 31-42); (R.E. at 30-41). Counsel argued said Motion to Strike on September 16, 2008, immediately prior to the scheduled jury trial, and Judge Terry stated his decision to grant McClellan's motion on September 17, 2008. (R. at 19-20); (R.E. at 18-19). Following Judge Terry's ruling, counsel for McClellan stated the following, in pertinent part:

I'm really not sure what the procedural device is at this point. But I think simply the defendant at this time moves to dismiss, or for an involuntary dismissal, or for a directed verdict or summary judgment, whatever the proper procedural device is at this point on the grounds that in the absence of those medical opinions which are required in order to establish any causal relationship between the second impact with the defendant and any injuries and damages claimed, those cases must fail, those claims must fail...There is no jury-submissible issue, there is no genuine issue of material fact based on the record now as made and as ruled on by the Court that would create any jury issue on causation of injuries. And so we would move to dismiss the plaintiff's case at this point on that basis.

(R. at 29); (R.E. at 28).

Judge Terry granted McClellan's request and responded, in part, "I'll call it summary judgment, all right?" (R. at 31); (R.E. at 30).

## **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court erred in granting a *sua sponte* Motion for Summary Judgment, thereby dismissing that action with prejudice, in excluding expert medical testimony of Dr. Charles Winters as to any causal relationship of Lora Lopez's injuries to the impact with Robert D. McClellan's vehicle and in finding that no genuine issue of material fact existed on the issue of causation of Lora Lopez's injuries.

McClellan improperly moved *ore tenus* for the dismissal of Lopez's case, and stated, "the defendant at this time moves to dismiss, or for an involuntary dismissal, or for a directed verdict or summary judgment, whatever the proper procedural device is at this point." Said motion was inappropriate, in that Lopez did not receive ten days notice thereof, and the granting of a motion for summary judgment, therefore, <u>MUST</u> be reversed.

Furthermore, the trial court erred in striking the expert testimony of Dr. Winters.

Lopez submits that the opinions set forth by Dr. Winters are generally accepted within the field of orthopedic surgery.

## **ARGUMENT**

I. The Circuit Court erred in granting a *sua sponte* Motion for Summary Judgment, thereby dismissing that action with prejudice.

In Cowan v. Miss. Bureau of Narcotics, the Mississippi Court of Appeals stated the following regarding standard of review: "This Court employs a de novo standard of review of a lower court's grant or denial of a summary judgment and examines all the evidentiary matters before it-admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc." Cowan v. Miss. Bureau of Narcotics, 2 So.3d 759, 763 (Miss.Ct.App. 2009) (quoting McMillan v. Rodriguez, 823 So.2d 1173, 1176-77 (Miss. 2002)). The Mississippi Supreme Court has also held that it "reviews orders granting summary judgment de novo, without deference to the trial court." Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center, Inc., 649 So.2d 179, 181 (Miss. 1994) (citing W.B. Crain v. Cleveland Lodge 1532, Order of Moose, Inc., 641 So.2d 1186 (Miss. 1994); Davis v. Davis, 558 So.2d 814 (Miss. 1990); Huff v. Hobgood, 549 So.2d 951 (Miss. 1989); Short v. Columbus Rubber and Gasket Co., 535 So.2d 61 (Miss. 1988); Pearl River County Board of Supervisors v. Southeast Collections Agency, Inc., 459 So.2d 783 (Miss. 1984)).

As stated hereinabove, counsel for McClellan moved *ore tenus* for the dismissal of Lopez's case, and stated, "the defendant at this time moves to dismiss, or for an involuntary dismissal, or for a directed verdict or summary judgment, whatever the proper procedural device is at this point." (R. at 29); (R.E. at 28). At the time of the trial hereon, McClellan had not filed a motion for summary judgment, but had only filed a Motion to Strike. (R. at 2-13); (R.E. at 1-12). Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c) sets forth the procedure for summary judgment motions, and states the following: "The motion shall be served <u>at least</u> ten days before the time fixed for the hearing." Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c) (emphasis added).

It is clear from a review of the record that McClellan failed to timely file his motion for summary judgment in accordance with Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

In response to McClellan's untimely, untitled *ore tenus* motion, the Court made the following ruling:

Well, in some instances there's always an issue as to whether a motion should be granted or whether a motion should be denied, and so it's either granted or denied, and also whether it should be dismissed as a directed verdict or whether it should be on a summary judgment, both being somewhat of the same effect. And at this stage with these proceedings, I would think that the motion for the granting of a directed verdict is not the term that should be used, but more so that the matter is dismissed based upon summary judgment based upon my ruling on the medical itself, and the medical only. That there's no genuine issue of fact to be submitted to the jury on the causation as to the results of impact number one and the results of impact number two. So I'll call it summary judgment, all right?

(Tr. at 30-31); (R.E. at 129-130).

Mississippi courts are clear in requiring compliance with Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c). The Court in *Pope v. Schroeder*, 512 So.2d 905 (Miss. 1987) reversed the decision of the trial court in granting summary judgment upon an *ore tenus* motion of one of the defendants. The Supreme Court found merit in the Popes' argument that said motion was inappropriate, in that they did not receive ten days notice. In reversing the trial judge's grant of summary judgment, the Court stated:

We shall not delve too deeply into the record to determine whether the Popes were prejudiced. Summary judgment is not to be a substitute for a trial of disputed fact issues. (citations omitted) In keeping with these decisions, we think summary judgment should not be used to snuff out a litigant's right to a trial unless it is appropriate under the rule. The requirements of Rule 56(c), far from being a mere extension of our liberal procedure exhalting [sic] substance over form, represents a procedural safeguard to prevent the unjust deprivation of a litigant's constitutional right to a jury trial. Miss. Const., art. 3, § 31 (1890). Thus, we cannot stress too strongly that a trial court should require compliance with Rule 56(c) before

entertaining a motion for summary judgment. The failure to do so here was error which requires reversal.

Pope, 512 So.2d at 908.

Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that if a trial judge sua sponte converts a motion to dismiss to one for summary judgment without giving ten days notice, the trial judge's grant of summary judgment must be reversed. Palmer, 649 So.2d at 182. The Palmer Court continues looked to the Eleventh Circuit for the strict notice requirements creating a bright-line rule: "If a trial court fails to comply with the ten-day notice requirement, the case will be reversed and remanded so that the trial court may provide the non-moving party with adequate notice." Id. at 183 (citing Jones v. Automobile Ins. Co. of Hartford, Conn, 917 F.2d 1528, 1532 (11th Cir. 1990)). In its analysis, the Mississippi Supreme Court went on to hold that our constitution and case law is consistent with the Eleventh Circuit's strict enforcement of the notice requirements. Id. The Court further reasoned that the reason for the strict compliance with Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c) is due to the fact that granting summary judgment results in the "final adjudication of the merits of a case." Id. at 184 (citing Donald v. Reeves Transport Co., 538 So.2d 1191, 1196 (Miss. 1989); Iones, 917 F.2d at 1533).

In light of the foregoing authority, it is clear that the grant of summary judgment in the instant matter was reversible error. As such, the decision of the trial court must be reversed, and the case remanded back to the trial court. II. The trial court erred in excluding expert medical testimony of Dr. Charles Winters as to any causal relationship of Lora Lopez's injuries to the impact with Robert D. McClellan's vehicle.

The Motion to Strike Dr. Charles Winters filed by McClellan relies, in part, on Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2004), wherein the Mississippi Supreme Court modified the Daubert standard for the admissibility of expert testimony. However, subsequent to McLemore, the Mississippi Supreme Court released Janssen Pharmaceutica, Inc. v. Bailey, 878 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2004), in which it held the following:

This Court has continually insisted that it must be "scientifically established that due investigation and study in conformity with techniques and practices **generally accepted** within the field will produce a valid opinion" before an opinion based on "those techniques and practices" will be considered for admission in a Mississippi Court.

Pharmaceutica, 878 So.2d at 60 (quoting T.K. Stanley, Inc. v. Cason, 614 So.2d 942, 951 (Miss. 1992)). Lopez submits that the opinions set forth by Dr. Winters are generally accepted within the field of orthopedic surgery. Dr. Winters stated the following in his deposition testimony:

## BY MR. GILL:

Q. In your letter to me of May 12th, you stated: With regard to the two collisions, it is impossible for me to state which of those two is the direct cause.

And that's your opinion; is that right, Doctor?

#### A. Yes.

Q. The direct cause. I would have to approximate or portion – or apportion fifty percent to each accident.

That's still your opinion; is that correct?

## A. Yes.

Q. And that – although as Ms. Dees points out, there may not be a scientific treatise to support that. How many years have you been a doctor?

- A. Since 1983.
- 0. 1983?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. And you've been around orthopedic injuries for -
- A. Since 1988.
- Q. 1988. So is it fair to say that your opinion that fifty percent should be apportioned to the rear-end collision is that based on your training and experience as a professional orthopedic surgeon?
  - A. Yes.
- Q. Is that, again, your opinion to a reasonable medical probability?
- A. I think yes. I think that's reasonable. (P-6, 43-44); (R.E. at 178-179).

Furthermore, in *Hughes v. Great American Indemnity Company*, 236 F.2d 71 (5th Cir. 1956), which has neither been distinguished nor overruled, the Fifth Circuit considered facts analogous to the case at bar. In *Hughes*, the plaintiff was struck head-on by an oncoming vehicle, and then immediately rear-ended by the following vehicle. *Hughes*, 236 F.2d at 72. The Court stated the following regarding damages:

Damages do not have to be established with mathematical certainty so long as there is evidence that damages did probably ensue from the second collision and so long as a reasonable basis is established for recovery of those damages. What the Supreme Court recently said in discussing the allied subject of negligence points to the rule which should be followed in such a situation: "In considering the scope of the issues entrusted to juries in cases like this, it must be borne in mind that negligence cannot be established by direct, precise evidence such as can be used to show that a piece of ground is or is not an acre. But measuring negligence is different. \* \* \* Issues of negligence, therefore, call for the exercise of common sense and sound judgment under the circumstances of particular cases. "We think these are questions for the jury to determine. \* \* \* \* \* \* Fact finding does not require mathematical certainty. Jurors are supposed to reach their conclusions on the basis of common sense, common understanding and fair beliefs,

grounded on evidence consisting of direct statements by witnesses or proof of circumstances from which inferences can fairly be drawn."

Id. at 75 (quoting Schulz v. Pennsylvania R. Co., 350 U.S. 523, 525-526, 76 S.Ct. 608, 610 (1956)).

It is clear from the foregoing that the trial court erroneously struck Dr. Winters' testimony.

# III. The trial court erred in finding that no genuine issue of material fact existed on the issue of causation of Lora Lopez's injuries.

In support of the decision to strike the expert medical testimony of Dr. Charles Winters, Judge Terry relied primarily on the Mississippi Supreme Court's decision in *Blizzard v. Fitzsimmons*, 193 Miss. 484, 10 So.2d 343 (Miss. 1942). (Tr. at 21); (R.E. at 120). The Court stated that *Blizzard* had not been contradicted; however, a review of the case reveals that it was, in fact, distinguished by *Hinds-Rankin Metropolitan Water & Sewer Ass'n v. Reid*, 256 So.2d 373 (Miss. 1971).

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