IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01857

LORA LOPEZ

APPELLANT

VERSUS

ROBERT D. MCCLELLAN

APPELLEE

**ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT
CAUSE NO. A2402-2005-31**

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

DONALD C. DORNAN, JR. [REDACTED]
KELLY PENDERGRASS DEES (Miss. Bar No. [REDACTED])
Spyridon, Palermo & Dornan, LLC
Post Office Box 154
154 Porter Ave.
Biloxi, MS 39533
Telephone: (228) 372-2013
Facsimile: (228) 374-2250
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE, ROBERT D. MCCLELLAN

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CA-01857

LORA LOPEZ

APPELLANT

VERSUS

ROBERT D. MCCLELLAN

APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court was correct in granting McClellan's *ore tenus* motion for summary judgment. Although it is undisputed that the motion was not filed ten days prior to the hearing, McClellan's *ore tenus* motion for summary judgment was properly considered by the trial court because Lopez waived any objection to the procedure used by the trial court by failing to object and also, by voluntarily stipulating to the procedure used by the trial court. As such, the trial court's consideration of McClellan's motion was undertaken by agreement of counsel. Therefore, the trial court was correct in considering and granting McClellan's motion for summary judgment.

Further, the trial court was correct in excluding the expert medical opinions of Dr. Charles Winters as to apportioned causation. Dr. Winters' opinions constituted expert medical testimony. As expert testimony, to be admissible Dr. Winters' opinions must meet the test of reliability and relevance set forth in Miss. R. Evid. 702. Dr. Winters' testimony as to apportioned causation was wholly unreliable in that it was admittedly based on mere speculation with no scientific basis. Therefore, the trial court properly granted McClellan's Motion to Strike No. 1 (Winters) and the trial court's decision should be affirmed.

Finally, as a result of the exclusion of Dr. Winters' opinions, the trial court was correct in finding that no genuine issue of material fact existed. Absent any evidence of a causal relationship between the impact with McClellan's vehicle and the injuries to Lopez, no genuine issue of material fact existed as to Lopez's claim of negligence against McClellan. As such, McClellan was entitled

to summary judgment and the trial court properly granted his motion for same. The trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of McClellan should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court Correctly Granted McClellan's *Ore Tenus* Motion for Summary Judgment

The standard of review of a trial court's grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment is *de novo*. Moore v. Delta Regional Medical Center, – So.3d –, 2009 WL 1668492, *2 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009)(citing Heigle v. Heigle, 771 So.2d 341 (Miss. 2000)). The appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-movant and the moving party bears the burden of demonstrating the absence of a genuine issue of material fact. *Id.* The appellate court will look at all evidence in the record, “including admissions in pleadings, answers to interrogatories, depositions, affidavits, etc.” *Id.* (citing Harrison v. Chandler-Sampson, Inc., 891 So.2d 224,228 (Miss. 2005)).

Following the trial court's pronouncement of its ruling granting McClellan's Motion to Strike No. 1 (Winters), counsel for McClellan moved *ore tenus* for a dismissal, involuntary dismissal, directed verdict, or summary judgment, stating:

I'm really not sure what the procedural device is at this point. But I think simply the defendant at this time moves to dismiss, or for an involuntary dismissal, or for a directed verdict or summary judgment, whatever the proper procedural device is at this point on the grounds that in the absence of those medical opinions which are required in order to establish any causal relationship between the second impact with the defendant and any injuries and damages claimed, those cases must fail, those claims must fail... There is no jury-submissible issue, there is no genuine issue of material fact based on the record now as made and as ruled on by the court that would create any jury issue on causation of injuries. And so we would move to dismiss the plaintiff's case at this point on that basis. [Tr. at 29]; [R.E. at 128].

After hearing argument by McClellan's counsel and being advised that Lopez opposed the motion, the trial court granted McClellan's *ore tenus* motion. In its opinion, the trial court noted that there was some question as to exact nature of the relief requested by McClellan:

In some instances there's always an issue as to whether a motion should be granted or whether a motion should be denied, and so it's either granted or denied, and also whether it should be dismissed as a directed verdict or whether it should be on a summary judgment, both being somewhat of the same effect. And at this stage with these proceedings, I would think that the motion for the granting of a directed verdict is not the term that should be used, but more so that the matter is dismissed based upon summary judgment based upon my ruling on the medical itself, and the medical only. That there's no genuine issue of fact to be submitted to the jury on the causation as to the results of impact number one and the results of impact number two. So I'll call it summary judgment, all right? [Tr. at 30-31]; [R.E. at 129-30].

Thereafter, counsel for Lopez responded advising that Lopez did not contest that McClellan's motion was, in fact, a motion for summary judgment. [Tr. at 31]; [R.E. at 30].

Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c) outlines the procedure for a trial court's handling of motions for summary judgment. Specifically, Rule 56(c) provides that a motion for summary judgment "shall be served at least ten days before the time fixed for the hearing." Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c). Rule 56 also provides that the trial court may allow the non-movant additional time by continuing the matter to permit affidavits to be obtained, depositions to be taken or further discovery be had. Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(f). Generally, if a trial court entertains a motion for summary judgment, including a motion which has been converted from a Rule 12 motion, which was not filed at least ten days prior to the hearing, it is reversible error. Cowan v. Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics, 2 So.3d 759 (Miss. Ct. App. 759); Palmer v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center, 649 So.2d 179 (Miss. 1994); Pope v. Schroeder, 512 S0.2d 905 (Miss. 1987).

While the ten day requirement of Rule 56 is the rule, there is an exception to the rule. Under Mississippi law, a party may waive the procedural requirements of Rule 56 by failing to object to the procedure used by the trial court. Courts have repeatedly held that "procedural defects may be waived by a party's failure to object to the procedure employed." Ammons v. Cordova Floors, Inc., 904 So.2d 185, 189 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); Koestler v. Mississippi College, 749 So.2d 1122, 1125

(Miss. Ct. App. 1999). It is well-settled that issues which are not brought before the trial court are deemed waived and cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Cowan, 2 So.3d at 766.

Further, in the context of Rule 56, Mississippi law is clear that a litigant that desires to avail himself of the right to present additional evidentiary materials pursuant to Rule 56(f) has “an affirmative duty to timely raise the issue with the trial court or be deemed to have waived objection to the court proceeding on the motion.” Koestler, 749 So.2d at 1125; *see also*, MST, Inc. v. Mississippi Chemical Corp., 610 So.2d 299, 305 (Miss. 1992). Rule 56(f) is not designed to protect lazy or dilatory litigants. Hariel v. Biloxi HMA, Inc., 964 So.2d 600, 609 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)(citing Stallworth v. Sanford, 921 So.2d 340, ¶11 (Miss. 2006)). Further, the language of Rule 56(f) is not self-executing. Instead, the rule places an affirmative duty to act on the litigant seeking to avail himself of the right granted thereunder. Champulver v. Beck, 909 So.2d 1061, 1064 (Miss. 2004); Russell v. Williford, M.D., 907 So.2d 362 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

In this case, it is undisputed that McClellan moved *ore tenus* for summary judgment without having first filed a written motion. It is also undisputed that the trial court considered the motion without the requisite ten days notice required by Miss. R. Civ. P. 56(c). However, the trial court did not *sua sponte* grant summary judgment in favor of McClellan. Rather, the trial court ruled on an *ore tenus* motion which was argued by the agreement of the parties. Specifically, counsel for Lopez stated as follows regarding the procedure used by the trial court:

MR. GILL: As we discussed in chambers, Your Honor, both sides have more or less stipulated that instead of trying this case for two days and having the Court grant a directed verdict, we would submit this on the record, have the court issue a ruling and preserve that record for appeal if necessary. [Tr. at 22-23]; [R.E. at 121-22].

Further, as the hearing progressed, counsel for Lopez never raised any objection to the procedure used by the trial court in entertaining McClellan’s motion. To the contrary, counsel for McClellan

explicitly consented to the procedure used by the trial court. Lopez has waived this issue for appeal by: 1) failing to object during the hearing, and, 2) by voluntarily agreeing to argue the motion before the trial court.

The trial court's consideration of the *ore tenus* motion for summary judgment made by McClellan, after the stipulation of the parties, was proper. Based on Lopez's on the record waiver of any objection and in fact, her stated consent to the procedure used by the trial court, there was no error by the trial court. Under the unusual circumstances of this case, the court was correct in its grant of summary judgment in McClellan's favor and its ruling should be affirmed.

II. The Trial Court Correctly Excluded the Expert Medical Testimony of Dr. Charles Winters as to Any Causal Relationship of Lora Lopez's Injuries to the Impact with Robert D. McClellan's Vehicle.

The trial court correctly excluded the expert medical testimony of Lopez's expert, Dr. Charles Winters, as to any causal relationship between Lopez's injuries and the impact with McClellan's vehicle. The expert testimony of Dr. Winters was inadmissible under Mississippi Rules of Evidence 702 and 703, in that it was unreliable and not based on the type of data reasonably relied on by experts in the field. As such, it was properly excluded by the trial court.

In amending Rule 702, the Supreme Court clarified the gatekeeping responsibilities of the trial court in evaluating the admissibility of expert testimony. In Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore, 863 So. 2d 31 (Miss. 2004), the Supreme Court adopted a modified Daubert¹ standard for the admissibility of expert testimony. This heightened threshold was deemed necessary because, as noted in Daubert, "expert evidence can be both powerful and quite misleading because of the difficulty of evaluating it." Daubert, 509 U.S. at 595.

¹ Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 113 S.Ct. 2786 (1993).

Under the modified Daubert standard, the proponent of expert testimony must establish that the proffered opinions are reliable. Thus, the party offering the expert witness must demonstrate that the proffered testimony is “based upon sufficient facts or data,” is “the product of reliable principles or methods,” and that “the witness has applied the principles and methods reliably to the facts of the case.” Miss. R. Evid. 702. Testimony that is not based on reliable data or methods is inadmissible. McLemore, 863 So. 2d at 35. Under Rule 702, a purported expert “may not present the jury with rank speculation.” Fowler v. State, 566 So. 2d 1194, 1200 (Miss. 1990); *see also* McLemore, 863 So. 2d at 39. An expert’s testimony must be based upon the application of a reliable scientific method to the facts of the case rather than upon the expert’s subjective interpretation of particular evidence. McLemore, 863 So. 2d at 37.

Daubert provides an illustrative, non-exclusive list of factors to be taken into consideration by a court in determining whether expert testimony is reliable. The court should consider, among other things, (1) whether the witness’s theory or technique “can be and has been tested;” (2) whether it “has been subjected to peer review and publication;” (3) “the known or potential rate of error;” and (4) whether the theory or technique has gained general acceptance in the relevant scientific field. *See* Miss. R. Evid. 702, Comment. Application of these factors to Dr. Winters’ proffered testimony demonstrates that his opinions were unreliable.

During his deposition, Dr. Winters offered his opinion that the injury suffered by Lopez was 50% apportionable to the impact with McClellan’s vehicle which occurred after a horrific head on collision with a vehicle operated by Linda Nesline.[P-6, 18-19, 36-37]; [R.E. at 153-54, 171-72]. However, Dr. Winters failed to articulate any indicia of the reliability of this opinion. In fact, when questioned regarding the underlying basis of his opinion, Dr. Winters stated that he could not apportion causation between the two impacts to a reasonable degree of medical probability. Dr.

Winters offered the following testimony on direct examination:

- Q. Doctor, I'd asked you through earlier correspondence if you could apportion the causal connection for the surgery to the two impacts related to this --
- A. Uh-huh (indicating yes).
- Q. -- collision. And in that letter, you replied to me. Can you tell the jury what your opinion is about the apportionment of the causal connection?
- A. **I said I couldn't really accurately do that. And I would as a best estimate apportion fifty percent to each.**
- Q. So then it would be fair to say that your opinion is that fifty percent of the need for the surgery would be attributed to the front collision and fifty percent to the rear collision?
- A. You know, it's hard for me to -- like I said, it's impossible for me to really separate that. I think you have to take the motor vehicle as a whole --
- Q. Uh-huh (indicating yes).
- A. -- that -- that the accident in itself is the -- the causation and that since there were essentially two accidents at the same time -- you know, there is no way for me to really accurately say seventy-five percent came from one and twenty-five percent came from the other. I think they're both the cause.
- A. And you split the -- the cost equally.
- Q. Well, that's the reason for my question, Doctor. The case that we're here on today involves the rear collision. So could you tell the jury -- and, again, your opinions need to be to a reasonable medical probability -- what contribution the rear collision caused to the need for the surgery?
- A. Fifty percent.[P-6, 18-19]; [R.E. at 153-54].(Emphasis added).

Further, Dr. Winters failed to demonstrate that his opinion regarding apportioned causation was based on "scientific knowledge," meaning *derived by the scientific method or something more than unsupported speculation or subjective belief that is grounded in methods and procedures of science*. Daubert, 509 U.S. at 590. Dr. Winters made no effort to show that his opinion was based upon the scientific method or that it amounted to more than mere conjecture. Instead, Dr. Winters

testified that his opinions were simply his own "speculation." [P-6, 37]; [R.E. at 172]. Surprisingly, Dr. Winters testified that he could provide no basis for his opinions regarding causation and that his assessment was "not scientific in any way." [P-6, 36-37]; [R.E. at 171-72]. Dr. Winters further testified regarding apportionment on cross-examination as follows :

Q. All right. Doctor in your correspondence to Mr. Gill on April 12th, 2006, you gave an opinion that you -- wherein you apportioned fifty percent of the causation for Ms. Lopez's medical condition to each of the impacts?

A. Right.

Q. Is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you give me -- can you give the jury the basis for that opinion?

A. There is no -- no basis for that opinion.

Q. Okay.

A. That is -- that is an estimate. Because in my -- in my opinion, the accident kind of basically acts as a whole. There is no way for me to sort that out. But if I -- if I'm asked to try to apportion it, the only thing I can do is to apportion it equally. Because I view the accident as a whole. It all happened at the same time. There is no way for me to know which -- which one is which percentage. So if I'm -- if I have to give a percentage, I just give a fifty/fifty.

Q. Okay. So would you agree with me that the fifty/fifty assessment is your speculation?

A. It is.

MR. GILL: I'm --

A. It's not scientific in any way.

MR. GILL: I'm going to object to that. But go ahead.

A. *It's not scientific. It's just an estimation.*

BY MS. DEES:

Q. Okay. Can you make that fifty/fifty assessment to a reasonable degree of medical probability?

A. No. [P-6, 36-37]; [R.E. at 171-72].

By his own admission, Dr. Winters' opinions as to apportionment of causation between the two distinct impacts had no scientific support, were nothing more than pure speculation, and were "not scientific in any way." [P-6, 37]; [R.E. at 172]. This is precisely the type of unreliable opinion that was envisioned for exclusion when the Supreme Court amended Rule 702.

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